IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA
NO. 25-242

SCA EFiled: Jul 21 2025
05:41 PM EDT
Transaction ID 76699298

WEST VIRGINIA DIVISION OF CORRECTIONS
AND REHABILITATION,

Petitioner,

v.

MARY F. MYERS, INDIVIDUALLY AND AS
ADMINISTRATRIX OF THE ESTATE OF
RONALD M. MYERS,

Respondents.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

From the Circuit Court of Kanawha County,
Case No. 24-C-842

Natalie C. Schaefer, Esq. (WVSB # 9103)
nschaefer@shumanlaw.com
Kimberly M. Bandy, Esq. (WVSB # 10081)
kbandy@shumanlaw.com
Tyler L. Rittenhouse, Esq. (WVSB # 14097)
trittenhouse@shumanlaw.com
SHUMAN MCCUSKEY SLICER PLLC
1411 Virginia Street East, Suite 200
Charleston, West Virginia 25301
Counsel for Petitioner

I. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The Circuit Court erred by denying portions of the West Virginia Division of Correction and Rehabilitation's ("WVDCR") Motion to Dismiss seeking dismissal of claims for mere negligence and negligent training because WVDCR is entitled to qualified immunity as a State agency for its discretionary actions. All allegations against WVDCR asserted in the negligence causes of action arise from WVDCR's exercise of its discretionary governmental functions in making decisions related to facility administration and officer training. These claims fail to identify any violation of clearly established laws about which WVDCR should reasonably know, and fail to describe conduct that is fraudulent, malicious, or oppressive. *See, e.g., W. Va. Dep't of Hum. Servs. v. David B.*, 911 S.E.2d 884, 887, 2024 W. Va. LEXIS 504, *1 (2024); *W. Va. Reg'l Jail Auth. v. A.B.*, 234 W. Va. 492, 514, 766 S.E.2d 751, 756 (2014); *W. Va. State Police, et al. v. J.H.*, 244 W. Va. 720, 856 S.E.2d 679 (2021); *W. Va. Bd. of Educ. v. Marple*, 236 W. Va. 654, 783 S.E.2d 75 (2015).

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

West Virginia Courts have consistently dismissed negligence claims, including claims of negligent training, asserted against state entities based upon the doctrine of qualified immunity. *W. Va. Dep't of Hum. Servs. v. A.R.*, 249 W. Va. 590, 900 S.E.2d 16 (2024); *W. Va. Div. of Corrs. & Rehab. v. Robbins*, 248 W. Va. 515, 889 S.E.2d 88 (2023); *Morehead v. W. Va. Army Nat'l Guard*, 915 S.E.2d 378; 2025 W. Va. LEXIS 151; *Parsons v. Raines*, 2025 W. Va. App. LEXIS 116, *12 (ICA)(memorandum decision); 2024 W. Va. App. LEXIS 340; *Ziglar v. Skiles*, 2024 LEXIS 66177; 2024 WL 5003297 ((ICA) (memorandum decision); *W. Va. Dep't of Hum. Servs. v. David B.*, 911 S.E.2d 884; 2024 W. Va. LEXIS 504.

Despite this precedence, the Circuit Court below erroneously concluded in a perfunctory fashion that “[t]he Plaintiff in this matter clearly stated in several paragraphs of her Complaint that Defendant WVDCR and its employees and representatives violated the constitutional and statutory rights of Ronald Myers and violated its own policies and procedures. The allegations are more than sufficient to advise Defendant of the claims made against it and the violations of clearly established laws.” JA 021. As this Court has soundly held, “for purposes of qualified immunity, internal agency policies, procedures, manuals, guidelines, or similar documents that have not been legislatively approved are not, and cannot be used to create, clearly established statutory rights or law of which a reasonable person would have known.” *W. Va. Dep’t of Hum. Servs. v. David B.*, 911 S.E.2d 884, 896, 2024 W. Va. LEXIS 504, *30.

Indeed, “[t]he purpose of qualified immunity is to allow officials to do their jobs and to exercise judgment, wisdom, and sense without worry of being sued.” *W. Va. Dep’t of Hum. Servs. v. David B.*, 911 S.E.2d 884; 2024 W. Va. LEXIS 504 (citing *W. Va. Bd. of Ed. v. Marple*, 236 W. Va. 654, 661, 783 S.E.2d 75, 82 (2015)). “In West Virginia, unless expressly limited by statute, “qualified immunity is necessarily broad[.]” *Maston*, 236 W. Va. at 500, 781 S.E.2d at 948, and applies to “the State, its agencies, officials, and/or employees.” *Kent v. Sullivan*, 249 W. Va. 747, 901 S.E.2d 500, 505 (2024).

WVDCR is not subject to liability simply because an inmate, who was admittedly under the medical care of professionals while housed at Eastern Regional Jail (“ERJ”), may have had signs of having a stroke before being transferred to the emergency room. According to the Complaint, Mr. Myers was incarcerated at ERJ beginning on or about June 23, 2022. JA 026. The Complaint alleges that on or about July 11, 2022, Mr. Myers was found unresponsive in his cell

and transported to WVU Berkeley Medical Center. JA 027. Mr. Myers suffered a stroke and passed away on July 19, 2022. JA 029.

Plaintiff's Complaint sets forth factual allegations entirely focused upon alleged failures in the provider-to-patient relationship. For example, Wexford's alleged failure to obtain accurate and sufficient information respecting Mr. Myers' conditions, risks, and medical concerns (JA 026); the fact that no medical referral was placed to have Mr. Myers evaluated by a psychologist (JA 026); the fact that medical staff allegedly made no effort to communicate with Mrs. Myers to obtain Mr. Myers' medication information or the name of his treating physician (JA 026); alleged incomplete medical records (JA 026); the alleged medical failure to evaluate Mr. Myers' cognitive functioning on intake, failure to order prescribed medications, failure to document that Mr. Myers was not eating the week prior to having a stroke, failure to properly evaluate Mr. Myers, failure to examine Mr. Myers, failure to evaluate Mr. Myers when his mental state was reported to be altered, failure to evaluate Mr. Myers when he was found unresponsive the morning of July 22, 2020, failure to timely transfer Mr. Myers to a hospital, and failure to take Mr. Myers' vitals during his incarceration (JA 028-029).

In a conclusory fashion, the Complaint states that WVDCR, through its employees, had knowledge that Mr. Myers was sick and exhibited signs of cognitive impairment for days prior to being transferred to the hospital; failed to obtain medical attention for Mr. Myers for several days; knew he was not eating; knew he was not receiving medication. JA 030-031. Contrary to these barebone allegations, the Complaint is replete with medical care during his entire stay at ERJ. JA 025-027.

The only other factual allegation specific to corrections staff pertains to a report allegedly made by an unidentified John/Jane Doe Correctional Officer to the emergency room staff at WVU Berkeley Medical Center on July 11, 2022. JA 027. This unattributed statement to hospital staff included the following reports: that Mr. Myers had refused to take his medication for a couple of days; that on the morning of July 11, 2022, Mr. Myers was found lying on his bunk “presumably asleep” and that corrections officers did not check Mr. Myers to determine if he was sleeping or to determine why he did not move for several hours that day; that later in the afternoon of July 11, 2022, Mr. Myers was found to have an altered mental state and had not left the bed all day; that Mr. Myers had complete “left-sided neglect;” and that Mr. Myers was last “normal” on July 10, 2022. JA027. Notably, the Complaint does not allege that any WVDCR officers personally observed or experienced any of these issues, nor had any reason to believe Mr. Myers was having a medical emergency of which a reasonable officer should have known. This was simply a report to the emergency hospital staff once Mr. Myers was transported to a medical facility. JA 027. Plaintiff alleges that Mr. Myers suffered a stroke which resulted in his death. JA 027.

Myers’ Complaint asserts claims against Petitioner for, *inter alia*, negligence and negligent training.¹ Petitioner filed a Motion to Dismiss seeking dismissal of Myers’ negligence and negligent training claims on the grounds that Petitioner is entitled to qualified immunity. On March 19, 2025, the Circuit Court entered an Order denying the Petitioner’s Motion to Dismiss. Regarding Petitioner’s qualified immunity arguments, the Circuit Court found that dismissal was not appropriate because WVDCR violated Mr. Myers’ clearly established rights under West Virginia Code of State Rules § 95-1-15. Additionally, the Circuit Court found that Mr. Myers’

¹Petitioner also filed a writ of prohibition on the final cause of action entitled “deliberate indifference in violation of clearly established West Virginia law” in Count III. This is the subject of No. 25-328.

clearly established rights were violated because WVDCR did not adhere to its own policy and procedures. Lastly, the Circuit Court found that WVDCR violated Mr. Myers' rights that are clearly established in West Virginia Code § 15A-3-5.

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The basis for this appeal is the Circuit Court's decision to deny qualified immunity to Petitioner WVDCR as to the negligence and negligent training claims. Failing to dismiss these claims completely ignores the very purpose of qualified immunity: immunity from suit. Negligence and negligent training are both claims specifically subject to qualified immunity unless Respondent can establish that WVDCR violated a clearly established statutory or constitutional right of Mr. Myers, of which it reasonably should have known. Moreover, the Circuit Court failed to apply the correct heightened pleading standard as it relates to negligence claims.

The very heart of the qualified immunity defense is that it spares the defendant from having to go forward with an inquiry into the merits of the case. A ruling on qualified immunity should be made early in the proceedings so that the expense of trial is avoided where the defense is dispositive. First and foremost, qualified immunity is an entitlement not to stand trial, not merely a defense from liability. The uniqueness of qualified immunity and its provision of total immunity from suit rather than just a defense is an important reason for the heightened pleading.

Based on the limited facts alleged against unidentified WVDCR officers, the Circuit Court broadly concluded that WVDCR and its employees, including Defendants John/Jane Doe Corrections Officers, were subject to various unidentified policies, rules, procedures, and protocols regarding the identification of, and care for, an inmate in a health crisis, and that said Defendants had a duty to comply with those policies and provide proper medical care for Mr. Myers. JA 020. Such "policies, rules, procedures, and protocols" are undefined and not contained in the Complaint.

Regardless, this Court has repeatedly held that this is insufficient to qualify as a clearly established law or right.

Additionally, a claim for negligent training easily falls within the category of discretionary governmental functions. *W. Va. State Police, et al. v. J.H.*, 244 W.Va. 720, 856 S.E.2d 679 (2021). Respondent failed to identify any clearly established law allegedly violated by WVDCR, or that WVDCR acted maliciously, fraudulently, or oppressively in training its officers. Petitioners moved for dismissal of both claims on the grounds that WVDCR is entitled to qualified immunity for the discretionary acts of training its employees and assessing inmates' medical needs. Each alleged action is discretionary in the course of either administration of the facility and/or training officers. Casting such a wide net becomes self-defeating when analyzing the application of qualified immunity. Petitioner is entitled to qualified immunity, and the Circuit Court erred in denying Petitioner's Motion to Dismiss on the negligence claims.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

WVDCR does not dispute that this Court has authoritatively decided the issue of qualified immunity but submits that the decisional process may be significantly aided by oral argument. WVDCR further submits that, although immunity issues are of consequence, at issue is the application of existing law such that the matter is appropriate for Rule 19 oral argument.

V. ARGUMENT

A. The Standard of Review

"This Court has held that '[a]ppellate review of a circuit court's order granting a motion to dismiss a complaint is *de novo*.'" *Boone v. Activate Healthcare, LLC*, 245 W. Va. 476, 859 S.E.2d 419, 422 (2021) (citing Syl. Pt. 1, *Barber v. Camden Clark Mem'l Hosp. Corp.*, 240 W. Va. 663, 815 S.E.2d 474 (2018) (citing Syl. Pt. 2, *State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, Inc.*,

194 W. Va. 770, 461 S.E.2d 516 (1995))). Stated otherwise, “[w]hen a party ... assigns as error a circuit court’s denial of a motion to dismiss, the circuit court’s disposition of the motion to dismiss will be reviewed *de novo*.’ Syl. Pt. 4, in part, *Ewing v. Bd. of Educ. of Cty. of Summers*, 202 W. Va. 228, 503 S.E.2d 541 (1998).” *W. Va. Reg’l Jail & Corr. Facility Auth. v. Grove*, 244 W. Va. 273, 852 S.E.2d 773, 780 (2020). “We therefore give a new, complete and unqualified review to the parties’ arguments and the record before the circuit court.” *Gastar Exploration, Inc. v. Rine*, 239 W. Va. 792, 806 S.E.2d 448, 454 (2017) (quoting *Blackrock Capital Inv. Corp. v. Fish*, 799 S.E.2d 520, 526 (2017)).

Additionally, “[i]n Syllabus point 1 of *West Virginia Board of Education v. Marple*, 236 W. Va. 654, 783 S.E.2d 75 (2015), [this Court] held: ‘A circuit court’s denial of a motion to dismiss that is predicated on qualified immunity is an interlocutory ruling which is subject to immediate appeal under the ‘collateral order’ doctrine.’” *Grove, supra*. In that regard:

It is well-established that “[t]his Court reviews *de novo* the denial of a motion for summary judgment, where such a ruling is properly reviewable by this Court.” Syl. Pt. 1, *Findley v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 213 W. Va. 80, 576 S.E.2d 807 (2002). Moreover, “[a] circuit court’s denial of summary judgment that is predicated on qualified immunity is an interlocutory ruling which is subject to immediate appeal under the ‘collateral order’ doctrine.” Syl. Pt. 2, *Robinson v. Pack*, 223 W. Va. 828, 679 S.E.2d 660 (2009). This review, however, is guided by the following principle regarding immunity:

[t]he ultimate determination of whether qualified or statutory immunity bars a civil action is one of law for the court to determine. Therefore, unless there is a bona fide dispute as to the foundational or historical facts that underlie the immunity determination, the ultimate questions of statutory or qualified immunity are ripe for summary disposition. Syl. Pt. 1, *Hutchison v. City of Huntington*, 198 W. Va. 139, 479 S.E.2d 649 (1996).

W. Va. Reg’l Jail & Corr. Facility Auth. v. A.B., 234 W. Va. 492, 766 S.E.2d 751, 760 (2014) (emphasis added). As this Court has recognized, “[t]he Court observed in *Robinson* that allowing interlocutory appeal of a qualified immunity ruling is the only way to preserve the intended goal

of an immunity ruling: to afford public officers more than a defense to liability by providing them with ‘the right not to be subject to the burden of trial.’” *City of Saint Albans v. Botkins*, 228 W. Va. 393, 719 S.E.2d 863, 867 (2011) (internal citation omitted). As commentators have noted:

[Qualified immunity] is designed to allow government officials to ***avoid the expense and disruption of litigation***, and is not merely a defense to liability. When a complaint fails to allege a violation of a clearly established law or discovery fails to uncover evidence sufficient to create a genuine issue whether the defendant committed such a violation, the qualified immunity defense provides the defendant with immunity from the burdens of trial as well as a defense to liability, and is effectively lost if the case is erroneously permitted to go to trial.

63C Am. Jur. 2d Public Officers and Employees § 305 (footnotes omitted) (emphasis added).

The Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia has reiterated that “matters involving qualified immunity require a ‘heightened pleading standard.’” *W. Va. State Police v. J.H.*, 244 W. Va. 720, 736, 856 S.E.2d 679, 695 (2021) (citing *W. Va. Reg’l Jail & Corr. Facility Auth. v. Estate of Grove*, 244 W. Va. 273, 282, 852 S.E.2d 773, 782 (2020) (“Accordingly, we find that the circuit court erred by failing to apply the heightened pleading standard in this particular matter and reverse its ruling in this regard.”)). The Supreme Court further reiterated:

We believe that in civil actions where immunities are implicated, the trial court must insist on heightened pleading by the plaintiff. See Schulte v. Wood, 47 F.3d 1427 (5th Cir. 1995) (en banc) (a §1983 action); *see generally Parkulo v. West Virginia Board of Probation and Parole*, [199 W.Va. 161, 483 S.E.2d 507] [(1996)]. To be sure, we recognize the label “heightened pleading” for special pleading purposes for constitutional or statutory torts involving improper motive has always been a misnomer.

Id. at 736 – 37, 856 S.E.2d at 695 – 96 (quoting *Hutchison v. City of Huntington*, 198 W. Va. 139, 149-50, 479 S.E.2d 649, 659-60 (1996)) (emphasis in original); *see also W. Va. Bd. of Educ. v. Croaff*, No. 16-0532, 2017 W. Va. LEXIS 338, 2017 WL 2172009, at *3 (W. Va. May 17, 2017) (memorandum decision) (““In civil actions where immunities are implicated, the trial court must

insist on heightened pleading by the plaintiff.’ *Hutchison*, 198 W. Va. at 149, 479 S.E.2d at 659.”); *W. Va. Bd. of Educ. v. Marple*, 236 W. Va. 654, 660, 783 S.E.2d 75, 81 (2015).

The Circuit Court failed to apply the heightened pleading standard to the qualified immunity analysis, which constitutes clear legal error.

B. WVDCR Is Entitled To Qualified Immunity From Allegations Of Negligence, Including Allegations Of Negligent Training, And The Circuit Court’s Refusal To Dismiss These Claims Was In Error.

“[I]f a public officer ... is either authorized or required, in the exercise of his judgment and discretion, to make a decision and to perform acts in the making of that decision, and the decision and acts are within the scope of his duty, authority and jurisdiction, he is not liable for negligence or other error in the making of that decision, at the suit of a private individual claiming to have been damaged thereby.” *Clark v. Dunn*, 195 W. Va. 272, 465 S.E.2d 374 (1995)(citations omitted); *Parkulo v. W. Va. Bd. of Prob. & Parole*, 199 W. Va. 161, 483 S.E.2d 507, 510 (1996).² “The

² “In the absence of an insurance contract waiving the defense, the doctrine of qualified or official immunity bars a claim of mere negligence against a State agency not within the purview of the West Virginia Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act, W. Va. Code § 29-12A-1, *et seq.*, and against an officer of that department acting within the scope of his or her employment, with respect to the discretionary judgments, decisions, and actions of the officer.” *Clark v. Dunn*, 195 W. Va. 272, 465 S.E.2d 374 (1995). It is undisputed that WVDCR is clearly a state agency. JA 016. This Court has expressly held that the State’s insurance policy procured through the Board of Risk and Insurance Management does not waive immunity defenses:

Therefore, we hold that the state insurance policy exception to sovereign immunity, created by West Virginia Code § 29-12-5(a)(4) [2006] and recognized in Syllabus Point 2 of *Pittsburgh Elevator Co. v. W.Va. Bd. of Regents*, 172 W. Va. 743, 310 S.E.2d 675 (1983), applies only to immunity under the West Virginia Constitution and does not extend to qualified immunity. To waive the qualified immunity of a state agency or its official, the insurance policy must do so expressly, in accordance with Syllabus Point 5 of *Parkulo v. W. Va. Bd. of Probation & Parole*, 199 W. Va. 161, 483 S.E.2d 507 (1996).

...

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