IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

NO. 25-242

SOA EFiled: Sep 04 2025
04:37PM EDT
Transaction ID 77002204

WEST VIRGINIA DIVISION OF CORRECTIONS
AND REHABILITATION,

Petitioner,

v.

MARY F. MYERS, INDIVIDUALLY AND AS
ADMINISTRATRIX OF THE ESTATE OF
RONALD M. MYERS,

Respondents.

Response of Mary Myers to Petitioner's Brief

From the Circuit Court Of Kanawha County,

Case No. 24-C-842

W. Jesse Forbes (WVSB# 9956)
Jennifer N. Taylor (WVSB #4612)
FORBES LAW OFFICES, PLLC
1118 Kanawha Blvd. East
Charleston, WV 25301
Telephone: (304) 343-4050
Facsimile: (304) 343-7450
Counsel for Respondent

L. Dante diTrapano (WV Bar No. 6778)
Amanda J. Davis (WV Bar No. 9375)

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

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

Rule 12(b)(6) of the *West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure* allows dismissal of a claim for “failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.” *W. Va. R. Civ. P.* 12(b)(6). Such a motion “is viewed with disfavor.” *Fass v. Newsco Well Service, Ltd.*, 177 W. Va. 50, 51, 350 S.E.2d

562, 563 (1986). As the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia explained:

The purpose of a motion under Rule 12(b)(6) is to test the formal sufficiency of the complaint. The trial court, in appraising the sufficiency of a complaint on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, should not dismiss the complaint unless it appears beyond doubt that the Respondent can prove no set of facts in support of his claim which would entitle him to relief. Dismissal for failure to state a claim is proper where it is clear that no relief could be granted under any set of facts that could be proved consistent with the allegations.

Mey v. Pep Boys-Manny, Moe & Jack, 228 W. Va. 48, 53, 717 S.E.2d 235, 239 (2011) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). See also, *Boone v. Activate Healthcare, LLC*, 245 W.Va. 476, 859 S.E.2d 419, 422 (2021); *Chapman v. Kane Transfer Co., Inc.*, 160 W.Va. 530, 236 S.E.2d 207 (1977); *Conley v. Gibson*, 355 U.S. 41, (1957). The court must construe the factual allegations in the light most favorable to the Respondent. *Boone*, 859 S.E.2d at 442. In considering a motion to dismiss, it is a basic tenet that a court must accept all the factual allegations in the complaint as true. *Ashcroft v. Iqbal*, 556 U.S. 662 (2009).

Rule 12(b)(6) authorizes a party to file a motion to dismiss for “failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted” in lieu of filing a responsive pleading to a claim, counterclaim, cross-claim, or third-party claim. This procedural device provides a means of “test[ing] the sufficiency of the complaint[.]” *Cantley v. Lincoln Cnty. Comm’n*, 221 W. Va. 468, 470, 655 S.E.2d 490, 492 (2007) (per curiam), and exists to “weed out unfounded suits[.]” *State ex rel McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick*, 194 W. Va. 770, 776, 461 S.E.2d 516, 522 (1995). The West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals held, “Our review of the case is limited to the sufficiency of the complaint[.]” *Id.* at 522 n.7.

However, “[a] court should not dismiss a case simply because it believes it is unlikely that the Respondent will prevail.” *McGinnis v. Cayton*, 173 W. Va. 102, 104, 312 S.E.2d 765, 768 (1984). The question is not whether a Respondent has “a strong case, but rather whether [he or

she] ha[s] any case.” *Id.* at 105, 312 S.E.2d at 768 (emphasis added). West Virginia law reflects a “preference . . . to decide cases on their merits[.]” *Yurish v. Sinclair Broad. Grp., Inc.*, 246 W.Va. 91, 101, 866 S.E.2d 156, 161 (2021) (quoting *Sedlock v. Moyle*, 222 W. Va. 547, 550, 668 S.E.2d 176, 179 (2008) (per curiam)). Therefore, we require “[a] trial court considering a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) [to] liberally construe the complaint so as to do substantial justice.” *Cantley*, 221 W. Va. at 470, 655 S.E.2d at 492 (emphasis added). Indeed, we have stated that “motions to dismiss are viewed with disfavor,” and we have “counsel[ed] lower courts to rarely grant such motions.” *Forshey v. Jackson*, 222 W. Va. 743, 749, 671 S.E.2d 748, 754 (2008).

When a party files a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), “the pleading party has no burden of proof. Rather, the burden is upon the moving party to prove that no legally cognizable claim for relief exists.” *Mountaineer*, 244 W. Va. at 520, 854 S.E.2d at 882. The “court reviewing the sufficiency of a complaint . . . should presume all of the Respondent’s factual allegations are true, and should construe those facts, and inferences arising from those facts, in the light most favorable to the Respondent.” *Id.* A Respondent “is not required to establish a prima facie case at the pleading stage.” *Id.* at 522, 854 S.E.2d at 884. On the contrary, “to survive a motion under Rule 12(b)(6), a pleading need only outline the alleged occurrence which (if later proven to be a recognized legal or equitable claim), would justify some form of relief.” *Mountaineer Fire & Rescue Equip., LLC v. City Nat’l Bank of W.Va.*, 244 W. Va. 508, 521, 854 S.E.2d 870, 883 (2020). Dismissal of a complaint under Rule 12(b)(6) is inappropriate “unless it appears beyond doubt that the Respondent can prove no set of facts in support of his claim which would entitle him to relief.” Syl. Pt. 3, in part, *Chapman v. Kane Transfer Co.*, 160 W. Va. 530, 236 S.E.2d 207 (emphasis added).

The factual allegations set forth in Respondent’s *Complaint* (as well as all reasonable

inferences that can be drawn from such allegations) must be: (1) accepted as true; and (2) viewed in the light most favorable to Respondent. Moreover, Petitioner's motion raises issues of fact which have not had the benefit of discovery, and which preclude resolution by way of a motion to dismiss. Petitioner's motion is wholly without merit and should be **DENIED** in its entirety.

B. Petitioner is Not Entitled to Qualified Immunity

Petitioner WVDCR is not entitled to qualified immunity for its deliberate indifference, negligence, gross negligence, negligent hiring, or negligent supervision and training under state law standards, nor is it entitled to any immunities provided by the *West Virginia Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act*, *W.Va. Code* § 29-12A-1. The allegations of Respondent's Complaint are clearly stated; are directed specifically against Petitioner WVDCR; are recognized by state law; are not precluded by any assertions of qualified immunity.

The Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia recently recognized that "Immunity law can be difficult to understand under the best of circumstances, as it involves three separate and distinct legal analyses which apply to claims against three separate and distinct categories of entities and individuals." *Kent v. Sullivan*, 22-0428, 2024 W.Va. LEXIS 204, *1 (2024)(*See* Exhibit 5). The Court then simplified a two-step analysis: "1) categorize the party claiming immunity; and 2) determine whether the party is entitled to immunity under the facts and circumstances presented." *Id.*, LEXIS 204, *10.

The Court then recognized that "there are three sources of immunity in our jurisprudence: constitutional or "sovereign" immunity, common law "qualified immunity," and statutory immunity as set forth in the Tort Claims Act:

It is well established that claims for both constitutional and common law qualified immunity are available only for the State, its agencies, officials, and/or employees. *See* W.Va. Const. art VI, §35; *see also A.B.*, 234 W.Va. at 502; 766 S.E.2d at 761 ("In West Virginia, however, the Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform

Act, West Virginia Code §29-12A-1 *et seq.*, is limited to political subdivisions and their employees and does not cover claims made against the State or its agencies.” *Estate of Grove*, 244 W.Va. at 283, 852 S.E.2d at 783 (“[W]e have developed a significant body of law in order to determine whether a state agency, a state employee, or both are entitled to be protected from suit by the doctrine of qualified immunity.”)

Id.; *West Virginia Regional Jail and Correctional Facility Authority v. A.B.*, 234 W.Va. 492, 766 S.E.2d 751 (2014).

Statutory immunity, such as that provided by the Tort Claims Act, “is available only to political subdivisions and their employees. *Kent*, LEXIS 204, *12; *W.Va. Code* § 29-12A-3. The West Virginia Supreme Court has repeatedly recognized that the Tort Claims Act does not apply to claims against the State. *Kent*, LEXIS 204, *14, n. 18; *A.B.*, 234 W.Va. at 499 n. 4., 766 S.E.3d at 758, n.4; *State v. Chase Sec., Inc.*, 188 W.Va. 356, 358, 424 S.E.2d 591, 593 (1992); *Hess v. W.Va. Div. Corrections*, 227 W.Va. 15, 18 n. 6, 705 S.E.2d 125, 128 n. 6 (2010).

The first step under *Kent* is to categorize the party claiming immunity, which, in the present matter, is easy: Petitioner WVDCR is clearly a state agency. The second step is to determine whether WVDCR is entitled to immunity under the facts and circumstances presented. Being a state agency, Petitioner WVDCR is not entitled to the statutory immunity provided by the Tort Claims Act. Likewise, Petitioner WVDCR is not entitled to qualified immunity under the immunity analysis set forth in the *Grove* decision:

[W]henever a Petitioner raises the issue of qualified immunity in a motion to dismiss, the circuit court must look to our qualified immunity body of law and follow the steps this Court expressly has outlined to make the determination of whether qualified immunity applies under the specific circumstances of that particular case. Specifically, these steps include whether: (1) a state agency or employee is involved; (2) there is an insurance contract waiving the defense of Qualified immunity; (3) the *West Virginia Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act*, *W.Va. Code* § 29-12A-1, *et seq.* would apply; (4) the matter involves discretionary judgments, decisions, an/or actions; (5) the acts or omissions are in violation of clearly established statutory or constitutional rights or laws of which a reasonable person would have known or are otherwise fraudulent, malicious, or

oppressive; and (6) the State employee was acting within his/her scope of employment.

W.Va. Reg'l Jail and Corr. Facility v. Estate of Grove, 244 W.Va. 273, 283, 852 S.E.2d 773, 783 (2020); *Kent v. Sullivan*, 22-0428 (W.Va. May 9, 2024).

Petitioner WVDCR is a state agency; there is no insurance contract waiving the defense of qualified immunity; and its actions do not fall within the purview of the *West Virginia Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act*, *W.Va. Code* § 29-12A-1. The only remaining factors to consider under *Grove* are whether the allegations involve discretionary judgments or decisions; whether the acts and omissions were in violation of clearly established statutory or constitutional rights or laws of which a reasonable person would have known; and whether the employees and agents of WVDCR were acting within their scope of employment.

To the extent that governmental acts or omissions which give rise to a cause of action fall within the category of discretionary functions, a reviewing court must determine whether the Respondent has demonstrated that such acts or omissions are in violation of clearly established statutory or constitutional rights or laws of which a reasonable person would have known or are otherwise fraudulent, malicious or oppressive in accordance with *State v. Chase Securities, Inc.*, 188 W.Va. 356, 424 S.E.3d 591 (1992). In the absence of such a showing, both the State and its officials or employees charged with such acts or omissions are immune from liability. Syl. Pt. 11, *W.Va. Reg'l Jail & Corr. Facility Auth. v. A.B.*, 234 W.Va. 492, 766 S.E.2d 751 (2014). If the correctional officers were acting within the scope of their employment or duties, the state agency may be held vicariously liable for those acts or omissions. *Id.* at Syl. Pt. 12. A state agency is not entitled to qualified immunity if a Respondent has demonstrated that the alleged acts or omissions are in violation of clearly established statutory or constitutional laws of which a reasonable person

would have known. Syl. Pt. 10, *A.B.*, 234 W.Va. at 491, 766 S.E.2d at 751; *W.Va. Div. of Corrs. & Rehab. v. Robbins*, 248 W.Va. 515, 889 S.E.2d 88 (2023).

The United States Supreme Court established a two-part test for courts to apply in ruling on a qualified immunity issue: Taken in the light most favorable to the party asserting the injury, do the facts alleged show a constitutional right and, if so, was the right clearly established? *Saucier v. Katz*, 533 U.S. 194, 201 (2001); *Robbins*, 248 W.Va. at 524, 889 S.E.2d at 97. A violation of a constitutional right may be clearly established if the violation is so obvious that a reasonable state actor would know that what he is doing violates the Constitution. It may also be established if a closely analogous case establishes that the conduct is unconstitutional. See, *Maston v. Wagner*, 236 W.Va. 488, 506, 781 S.E.2d 936, 954 (2015).

The Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments apply to inmates in jail facilities and require that government officials not be deliberately indifferent to any serious medical needs of a detainee. *Tarashuk v. Givens*, 53 F.4th 154, 163 (4th Cir. 2022); *Belcher vv. Oliver*, 898 F.2d 32 (4th Cir. 1990); *Martin v. Gentile*, 849 F.2d 863 (4th Cir. 1988). “A prisoner’s right to adequate medical care and freedom from deliberate indifference to medical needs has been clearly established by the Supreme Court and this Circuit since at least 1976 . . .” *Tarashuk*, 53 F.4th at 163.

Rule 95-1-14.1. of the *West Virginia Code of State Rules* provides, “Right to medical care. All inmates shall have prompt access to necessary medical, dental and psychiatric care provided in a reasonable manner by licensed personnel.” *W. Va. Code R. § 95-1-14. See generally* Am. Jur. 2d *Penal and Correctional Institutions* §158 (2014) (footnotes omitted)(“A jailer owes a duty to prisoners to keep them safe, protect them from unnecessary harm, and exercise reasonable and ordinary care for their life and health. Custodians may have particular duties, depending on their knowledge of risks to inmates, if an inmate’s suicidal tendencies are known, the custodian’s duty

is elevated.”) *W. Va. Code R. §95-1-15.9* provides: “Protection. Inmates shall be protected from personal abuse, corporal punishment, personal injury, disease, property damage and harassment.” *W. Va. Code R. § 95-1-15*.

The WVDCR adopted the National Commission on Correctional Health Care Standards (NCCHC) standards pursuant to *WVDCR Policy Directive 101.01*. NCCHC Standard J-A-01 (essential) Access to Care provides, “Inmates have access to care for their serious medical, dental, and mental health needs.” According to the NCCHC, this fundamental principle on which all NCCHC standards are based is the basic principle established by the U.S. Supreme Court in the 1976 landmark case *Estelle v. Gamble*, 429 U.S. 97 (1976). According to NCCHC, “Unreasonable barriers to inmates’ access to health services are to be avoided.” The NCCHC determined that unreasonable barriers include, “Having an understaffed, underfunded, or poorly organized system with the result that it is not able to provide appropriate and timely access to care.” *See* NCCHC Standard J-A-01.

Presently, the allegations in Respondent’s Complaint are simple, concise, and direct, and clearly provide more than enough information to outline the elements of each claim or permit inference to be drawn that such elements exist. *See Fass v. Newsco Well Serv. Ltd.*, 177 W.Va. 50, 350 S.E.2d 562 (1986); *W.Va. Div. of Corrs. & Rehab. v. Robbins*, 248 W.Va. 515, 889 S.E.2d 88. The allegations permit the inferences that WVDCR and its employees knew that the health and safety of Mr. Myers was under threat due to their direct knowledge of his altered mental state and inability to eat for several days prior to being found in a partially paralyzed, unresponsive state. Further, even if the Court determines additional factual allegations are needed the appropriate relief would be to allow Respondent to amend her Complaint and not dismissal.

Respondent alleges deliberate indifference in violation of clearly established laws. The facts and the allegations contained in the Complaint clearly outline that WVDCR and its employees had actual and constructive knowledge of Mr. Myers inability to eat, his altered mental state, and that his deteriorating physical condition was ongoing and obvious to any reasonable and reasonably trained correction officer.

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